PHYSIATRY IN MOTION Winter '23-'24

Colette PM

COVER ART: COLETTE PIASECKI-MASTERS, MD

COME EXPLORE PHYSIATRY

..."INSIDE"!



SP

A LETTER FROM THE EDITOR

S. RAZA HUSAIN, DO

Dear Readers,

It is my pleasure to welcome you to the Winter 2023-2024 issue of *Physiatry in Motion*, the official newsletter of the Association of Academic Physiatrists Resident/Fellow Council (AAP RFC).

Our theme for this issue was "Physiatry Inside" – inspired by our season of publication and the dynamic world of inpatient rehabilitation. Enclosed, you will find a series of articles exploring topics such as the latest treatment modalities, complementary therapies, strategies in shared decision-making, and interdisciplinary collaboration.

We believe that that Physiatry in Motion is more than just a newsletter; it is a platform to promote learning and collaboration within our community. We hope that this content within will inspire you, encourage innovation, and continue to help our field grow in new ways.

I would like to express my gratitude to each of our contributors for their time. Your passion for physiatry and commitment to improving the lives of our patients is unmatched. I would also like to extend a special thanks to Dr. Colette Piasecki-Masters for the incredible watercolor that graces our cover.

This issue also marks the conclusion of my term on the RFC. It has been my pleasure to serve you for the past year, and I hope that you enjoyed both our print and podcast offerings. I would like to thank every member of the Digital Outreach Subcommittee for his or her time and hard work. I am incredibly proud of what we were able to achieve.

Thank you again for taking the time to join us for this issue of *Physiatry in Motion*. Whether you are in practice, in training, applying, or just someone interested the world of rehabilitation medicine, we hope you enjoy reading it as much as we did putting it together.

Warmest Regards,

S. Raza Husain, DO Editor, Physiatry in Motion Chair, Digital Outreach Subcommittee

AAP RFC Digital Outreach Subcommittee: Colette Piasecki-Masters, MD Daniel Marte, MD Derek Day, MD Edward Jinsoo Chang, DO Sharon Hsu, MD Tiffany Wood, DO, MS Charis Turner, B.Sc



CONTENTS

Exploring Complementary and Alternative Medicine in Physiatry: Enhancing Patient Care	3
Extracorporeal shock wave therapy for the treatment of musculoskeletal conditions	5
Supported Decision-Making: A Magnification of Autonomy-First Physiatry	7
A Psychosocial Focus on Neurogenic Bowel Dysfunction and Adherence to Treatment	. 10
Where PM&R fits in the world of Universal Design, Community Reintegration, and Accessible Travel: An Interview with Dr. Niña Carmela Tamayo, DO, MS, MPH	. 12
Community Investment: How Adaptive Sports is Improving the Lives of Athletes in New Mexico	. 15
Exploring the Potential of Stim Acupuncture in Accelerating Post-Stroke Rehabilitation: A Path to Enhanced Neuroplasticity	. 18
New 'Portland Weird' Community: My Experiences at the National Veterans' Wheelchair Games	. 20
PM&R's Role in the Management of Anti-NMDAr Encephalitis: A Brief Review and Case Report	. 22
Patient Care in Rural Indonesia: How I found my passion to PM&R	. 24

EXPLORING COMPLEMENTARY AND ALTERNATIVE MEDICINE IN PHYSIATRY: ENHANCING PATIENT CARE

BETHANY KAVALAKATT; OMS3, LAKE ERIE COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

In the field of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation (PM&R), a significant number of patients with chronic conditions come in with the hope of finding relief. Integrative medical approaches have seldom been used among patients experiencing such conditions as the potential benefits of complementary and alternative medicine (CAM) have often been overshadowed by more traditional procedural and pharmaceutical treatments. This oversight arises from the limited knowledge that both physicians and patients possess regarding the advantages CAM can offer. As the potential benefits of CAM become clearer, it is evident that its integration into PM&R practices could profoundly enhance patient outcomes and satisfaction.

Navigating Chronic Conditions:

Chronic conditions, persistently affecting patients both physically and emotionally, present intricate challenges for patients and healthcare providers alike. The extended duration of these conditions often leads to feelings of frustration and hopelessness as patients strive to discover treatments tailored to their individual needs. This is precisely where CAM steps in, encompassing a broad spectrum of approaches that extend beyond the scope of conventional Western medicine. From nutritional interventions to hands-on therapies and mind-body practices, CAM encompasses a variety of modalities that allow physiatrists to provide a more personalized and holistic approach to patient care.

Understanding CAM Categories:

The National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health (NCCIH) classifies CAM approaches into distinct categories, providing a structured framework for comprehending the diverse tools available for holistic patient care1. These categories include nutritional interventions designed to optimize dietary choices, physical techniques addressing musculoskeletal issues and mobility, psychological interventions supporting mental wellbeing, and integrated approaches that amalgamate different modalities for comprehensive healing. These comprehensive modalities encompass practices like Chinese medicine, acupuncture, and yoga, among others.

Addressing Long COVID and Innovative Approaches:

The emergence of Long COVID has underscored the need to explore innovative strategies to alleviate the debilitating symptoms experienced by affected patients. Symptoms such as brain fog, persistent pain, and overwhelming fatigue are common among Long COVID patients. To tackle these challenges, some medical institutions have embraced approaches like integrative medical group visits (IMGVs). These group sessions create a supportive environment where patients share experiences and learn from one another during their journey towards recovery. IMGVs have gained popularity in COVID Recovery Clinics across the country.

IMGVs exemplify how CAM can seamlessly integrate into PM&R practices. These sessions incorporate a wide array of integrative medical modalities, including breathing techniques, mindfulness practices, dietary adjustments, and yoga. By weaving together these distinct approaches, patients are equipped with a holistic toolkit to manage their symptoms and enhance their overall quality of life. Although a definitive cure for Long COVID remains elusive, effective symptom management can substantially transform the lives of these patients.

Exploring Osteopathic Medicine and Yoga:

Osteopathic medicine, a prominent component of CAM, exhibits promise in pain management, particularly when administered early in the course of chronic conditions. Employing hands-on techniques

that address musculoskeletal issues, osteopathic interventions aim to restore balance and functionality to the body2. Research demonstrates that osteopathic therapies can lead to considerable reductions in pain and disability, particularly for conditions like low back pain.

Likewise, practices such as yoga, emphasizing physical postures, balance, and flexibility, hold potential for enhancing musculoskeletal strength and overall well-being, particularly among older adults. This holistic improvement can help patients regain their physical and mental health without resorting to medications and their potential side effects3.

Acupuncture: A Promising CAM Modality:

Another promising CAM modality is acupuncture, which has garnered attention for its ability to effectively manage chronic pain, including lower back pain. Acupuncture boasts a solid safety profile and is cost-effective, offering short-term benefits in pain relief and improved functionality when compared to conventional interventions or no treatment at all. Consistent systematic reviews highlight acupuncture's positive impact on chronic lower back pain, underscoring its potential as an adjunctive therapy in PM&R4.

Conclusions:

The integration of complementary and alternative medicine into the realm of physiatry holds great promise for enhancing patient care and outcomes. By embracing CAM modalities, physiatrists can tap into a diverse spectrum of approaches catering to the unique needs of patients dealing with chronic conditions including Long COVID. As the healthcare landscape evolves, rigorous research and clinical evaluation of these alternative approaches are paramount. This will enable us to grasp their full scope, efficacy, and potential to revolutionize patient care within the domain of physiatry.

Recognizing the untapped potential of CAM and its capacity to deliver personalized, holistic, and patientcentered care marks a significant stride towards improving the lives of individuals navigating chronic conditions. As healthcare professionals delve deeper into these alternative approaches, they embark on a journey to redefine the benchmarks of patient care, ushering in a new era of well-being and elevated quality of life.

You can follow Student Doctor Kavalakatt on social media at @BethanyMPauly

References:

1: National Center for Complementary and Integrative Health. (n.d.). Complementary, Alternative, or Integrative Health: What's In a Name? https://www.nccih.nih.gov/health/ complementaryalternative-or-integrative-health-whats-in-a-name

2: Licciardone, J. C., Brimhall, A. K., King, L. N., Osterbauer, P. J., & Fulda, K. G. (2013). Osteopathic manipulative treatment for low back pain: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. BMC Musculoskeletal Disorders, 14(1), 1-18.

3: Posadzki, P., & Ernst, E. (2011). Yoga for low back pain: a systematic review of randomized clinical trials. Clinical Rheumatology, 30(9), 1257-1262.

4: Vickers, A. J., Vertosick, E. A., Lewith, G., MacPherson, H., Foster, N. E., Sherman, K. J., ... & Acupuncture Trialists' Collaboration. (2018). Acupuncture for chronic pain: Update of an individual patient data meta-analysis. The Journal of Pain, 19(5), 455-474.

EXTRACORPOREAL SHOCK WAVE THERAPY FOR THE TREATMENT OF MUSCULOSKELETAL CONDITIONS

NATHAN MICHALAK, MD; PGY-2, NYMC/METROPOLITAN HOSPITAL

Extracorporeal shock wave therapy (ESWT) is a noninvasive form of treatment that was initially developed from its use in managing urologic conditions through lithotripsy [1]. ESWT has since been adapted to treat a wide variety of orthopedic conditions. The principles of ESTW rely on harmonic oscillations, which are mechanical waves that propagate through water and tissue that change the density of that medium through compression and expansion [2]. This produces positive and negative phases of the shockwave. The positive phase produces direct mechanical forces, while the negative phase generates cavitation and gas bubbles that subsequently implode at high speeds, generating subsequent shockwaves [3]. Compared to ultrasound, shockwave pressures are 1000 times greater [4]. The pressure changes lead to a physiologic cascade at the cellular level [5].

Although the exact mechanism by which ESWT promotes healing is not completely understood, studies have shown several mechanisms of proliferative changes. ESWT has been show to increase levels of growth factors leading to collagen synthesis and tenocyte proliferation [6, 7]. The shockwaves may also cause microdisruption of minimally vascularized tissue that then induces neovascularization [8]. Lastly, ESWT may promote bone growth by inhibiting osteoclasts and differentiating osteoblasts [2].

One clinical application for ESWT is for the treatment of pain. Two hypotheses exist for analgesia. The first is that the shockwaves degenerate nerve fibers from small immunoreactive neurons. The second is that shockwaves release endorphins [9]. In one metanalysis assessing ESWT for myofascial pain syndrome, the authors demonstrated that this therapy reduces pain, increases the pain threshold, and improves functionality compared with other interventions such as ultrasound and electroacupuncture. Although patients reported a clinical benefit, this was not superior to dry needling or corticosteroid injection [10]. This suggest that ESWT may be a reasonable option for myofascial pain if other treatment options are contraindicated.

ESWT has been well studied in treating tendinopathies, particularly Achilles tendinopathy with variable results. One study demonstrated that 64% of patients experienced complete or marked functional improvement in chronic insertional Achilles tendinopathy [11]. However, ESWT may not be superior to other therapies including platelet-rich plasma injections, peritendinous hvaluronan injections or endoscopy-assisted radiofrequency ablation [8]. Contrasting ESWT outcomes seem to result from the complexity of Achilles tendon dysfunction, differences in shock wave application, and different methods of therapy.

A more unique application for ESWT is in the management of post stroke spasticity. One of the proposed mechanisms for the effect of shockwaves on spasticity is increasing nitric oxide, a chemical that is involved in neurotransmission, memory formation, and synaptic plasticity in the central nervous system, and it plays an important role in the formation of neuromuscular junctions in the peripheral nervous system [12]. A metanalysis demonstrated that ESWT significantly improved modified Ashworth scale scores immediately and at 4 week follow up [13]. However, evidence is of limited quality and further well-designed randomized clinical trials are required.

While ESWT has been attempted for management of musculoskeletal conditions as an alternative therapy, it has its own complications. Common side effects include petechial bleeding at the site of therapy and pain post-procedure. More severe adverse events reported include hematoma and tendon damage due to an excess amount of energy [2]. Nevertheless, ESWT has been shown to be a relatively safe alternative to treating musculoskeletal conditions [4,8,10].

In summary, many publications have proven the efficacy and safety ESWT for the treatment of musculoskeletal disorders, including others not mentioned in this brief review. ESWT should be considered in cases where conventional treatments prove to be of little success, especially in patients who prefer non-operative alternatives.

References

1. Chaussy C, Schmiedt E, Jocham D, Brendel W, Forssmann B, Walther V. First clinical experience with extracorporeally induced destruction of kidney stones by shock waves. Jour Urol 1982;127: 417-420

2. Auersperg V, Trieb K. Extracorporeal shock wave therapy: an update. EFORT Open Rev. 2020;5(10):584-592. Published 2020 Oct 26. doi:10.1302/2058-5241.5.190067

3. van der Worp H, van den Akker-Scheek I, van Schie H, Zwerver J. ESWT for tendinopathy: Technology and clinical implications. Knee Surg Sports Traumatol Arthrosc 2013; 21:1451-1458

4. Wang CJ. Extracorporeal shockwave therapy in musculoskeletal disorders. J Orthop Surg Res 2012; 7:11

5. Wang FS, Yang KD, Kuo YR, et al. Temporal and spatial expression of bone morphogenetic proteins in extracorporeal shock wave-promoted healing of segmental defect. Bone 2003;32:387–396.

6. Chao Y.-H., Tsuang Y.-H., Sun J.-S., et al. Effects of shock waves on tenocyte proliferation and extracellular matrix metabolism. Ultrasound in Medicine & Biology. 2008;34(5):841–852. doi: 10.1016/j.ultrasmedbio.2007.11.002.

7. Vetrano M., d'Alessandro F., Torrisi M. R., Ferretti A., Vulpiani M. C., Visco V. Extracorporeal shock wave therapy promotes cell proliferation and collagen synthesis of primary cultured human tenocytes. Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy. 2011;19(12):2159–2168. doi: 10.1007/s00167-011-1534-9.

8. Stania M, Juras G, Chmielewska D, Polak A, Kucio C, Król P. Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy for Achilles Tendinopathy. Biomed Res Int. 2019;2019:3086910. Published 2019 Dec 26. doi:10.1155/2019/3086910

9. Saggini R., Di Stefano A., Saggini A., Bellomo R. Clinical application of shock wave therapy in musculoskeletal disorders: Part I. J Biol Regul Homeost Agents. 2015;29(3):533–545

10. Avendaño-López C, Megía-García Á, Beltran-Alacreu H, et al. Efficacy of Extracorporeal Shockwave Therapy on Pain and Function in Myofascial Pain Syndrome: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis of Randomized Clinical Trials. Am J Phys Med Rehabil. 2024;103(2):89-98. doi:10.1097/PHM.00000000002286

11. Rompe J. D., Nafe B., Furia J. P., Maffulli N. Eccentric loading, shockwave treatment, or a wait- and-see policy for tendinopathy of the main body of tendo achillis. The American Journal of Sports Medicine. 2007;35(3):374–383. doi: 10.1177/0363546506295940.

12. Mariotto S, de Prati AC, Cavalieri E, Amelio E, Marlinghaus E, Suzuki H. Extracorporeal shock wave therapy in inflammatory diseases: molecular mechanism that triggers anti-inflammatory action. Curr Med Chem. 2009;16(19):2366-2372. doi:10.2174/092986709788682119

13. Guo P, Gao F, Zhao T, Sun W, Wang B, Li Z. Positive Effects of Extracorporeal Shock Wave Therapy on Spasticity in Poststroke Patients: A Meta-Analysis. J Stroke Cerebrovasc Dis. 2017;26(11):2470-2476. doi:10.1016/j.jstrokecerebrovasdis.2017.08.019



SUPPORTED DECISION-MAKING: A MAGNIFICATION OF AUTONOMY-FIRST PHYSIATRY

DYLAN HAMPEL; OMS4, MIDWESTERN UNIVERSITY AZCOM

Most people engage in some form of Supported Decision-Making (SDM) in their day-to-day life. Everyday SDM could look like asking a spouse, partner, or trusted peer for advice on an important decision. A physiatrist could even consider a consultation with another specialty as a type of SDM. For people with intellectual or developmental disability (I/DD) who personally elect to benefit from decision-making assistance, SDM presents a less restrictive alternative to legal guardianship. Physiatrists can facilitate formalizing the SDM process by advising it as an alternative to legal guardianship, thereby improving quality of life by promoting each individual's right to self-determination.

The Value of Supported Decision-Making

Medical-legal literature describes decision-making capacity as an individual's ability to demonstrate four key components: Comprehension of presented information, appreciation of the information's relevance to their situation, comparison of risks and benefits based on information, and communication of a desired choice based on the information. People with intellectual, cognitive, or developmental disabilities may experience limited decision-making capacity through a spectrum of static or dynamic impairments to any of these domains.1 When an individual demonstrates a limitation to a decisionmaking capacity domain, legal and medical professionals may recommend guardianship for the affected individual to promote their safety. For over 100 years, legal institutions in the United States have approached limited decision-making capacity by appointing guardians as substitute decision-makers. In addition to losing voting rights, individuals under legal guardianship lose their rights to make choices about their medical care, where they go, and with whom they spend time. When the 1990 Americans with Disabilities Act enhanced the voices of people

with disabilities regarding their autonomy, many expressed how the loss of self-determination under guardianship infantilizes and reduces the quality of life for people who do not absolutely require guardianship. While assumed by the public to be benign protection of marginalized groups, the broad and restrictive nature of guardianship is not a panacea to resolve impaired decision-making capacity.2,3

As individuals with I/DD transition into adulthood. their families are often presented with guardianship as the only option to keep their loved one safe without recognizing the legal rights they lose under guardianship.4 Decision-making capacity is not binary and exists across a spectrum of unique ability levels, so decision-making supports should reflect this range. As an alternative to the dichotomy of choosing guardianship or no decision-making support, SDM instead creates a spectrum of decision-making support options. Stakeholders collaboratively achieve the autonomy-preserving design of SDM by implementing supporters who provide decisionmaking assistance to the individual with I/DD, referred to as the decision-maker. Supporters in SDM are voluntary individuals the decision-maker selects to bridge impairments in decision-making capacity. For example, a decision-maker wants to move to a new residence but needs help determining some details of how finances impact the decision. Instead of deciding for them, an SDM supporter could help parse the information by assisting the decision-maker in creating a budget based on expenses and income. Then, the supporter could narrow down residence options that fit the budget that the decision-maker could then choose from, making an informed choice while preserving the decision-maker's autonomy.

Unlike legal guardianship, which requires official medical evaluation and legal documentation before a

judge appoints a substitute decision-maker, SDM is not a legally binding agreement. The SDM agreement formalizes the relationship between the supporters and the decision-maker to maximize autonomy. If a chosen supporter can no longer provide assistance, the decision-maker can freely choose to dissolve the agreement and select a new supporter. On the other hand, guardianship requires further legal efforts to dissolve and may become complex with competing conflicts of interest from involved parties.1,5 With the added flexibility provided by SDM, decisionmakers, their chosen supporters, and informed professionals such as physicians can maximize each decision-maker's autonomy and safety according to their unique needs and situations.

The Physiatrist's Role in SDM

The Human Services Research Institute independently evaluated a 2015 pilot project to implement SDM in a group of individuals with I/DD. After two years of the program, participants reported that SDM helped them select people they could count on to help make decisions and reduced the risk of abuse by involving multiple supporters in decisionmaking assistance. Participants also reported increased confidence, pride, happiness, and a sense of control over their health. Of all the decisions made by SDM pilot participants with the help of supporters, the majority were decisions about health care.6 The high use of SDM for healthcare decisions highlights the positive impact SDM can have on the decisionmaker's autonomy and the importance of educating physicians on the SDM process.

To support the implementation of SDM, physicians should advise it as an option for patients and their families or caregivers to consider when treating a patient with impaired decision-making capacity. A method to identify candidates for SDM rather than legal guardianship is to discuss a question with the patient and their families or caregivers: "Given language support, strategic tools, and support from trusted individuals, can the individual make decisions for themselves?" If yes, this patient could benefit from SDM instead of legal guardianship. In addition to strategizing with the patient about the best form of decision-making support, physicians should ensure they keep SDM agreements on file to reference during visits. Keeping SDM agreements up to date for reference allows physicians and other providers to help decision-makers involve their chosen supporters when faced with choices about their health.

Physiatrists occupy a unique role among physicians regarding their ability to support the autonomy granted by SDM. As physicians trained in quality-oflife medical care, physiatrists can offer interventions to promote and maintain an individual's decisionmaking capacity. For example, a physiatrist could strategize long-term spasticity management for a patient who uses an assistive language device to communicate their choices. With proficient spasticity management, the patient could continue using their assistive language device and communicate their preferences, ensuring they remain candidates for SDM. Prioritizing maximized communication ability as a care goal is only one of many ways physiatrists can safeguard their patients' right to autonomy.

As professionals who may encounter people with intellectual, developmental, and cognitive disabilities at a higher rate than other physicians, physiatrists may also serve a crucial role in assisting these patients as they transition into adulthood. A 2019 survey-based study reported that autistic adults* and adults with cerebral palsy (CP) faced increased difficulties transitioning to adulthood without support. Autistic adults reported difficulties in independent living and employment, while adults with CP reported difficulties with transportation.7 Difficulty transitioning into adulthood demonstrates only some of the differences in each individual's unique lived experience of disability. However, it highlights the additional value SDM could bring by establishing a network of supporters early. As stakeholders in each patient's quality of life, physiatrists should make every effort to demonstrate that impairments to decision-making capacity are not impairments to someone's fully realized personhood by offering communication-enhancing treatments and advisement on options such as SDM when appropriate.

SDM Limitations

Individuals with I/DD may be particularly vulnerable to isolation due to disability status. For someone who



faces difficulty in decision-making and also experiences some form of isolation, SDM may not be a feasible option, as they may not be able to identify trusted individuals who can promote their autonomy as SDM supporters. Another limitation is that not all 50 US states have passed legislation supporting recognition of and protections for the SDM process. Lastly, education on the option of SDM remains low among people with I/DD, physicians, and other relevant stakeholders. Learning more about state laws regarding SDM, sharing information with other physicians, and becoming familiar with SDM agreements are all ways physiatrists can support the implementation of SDM to maximize each patient's autonomy and guality of life. Resource libraries from Public the Center for Representation (https://supporteddecisions.org/resources-on-sdm/) and the American Civil Liberties Union (https://www.aclu.org/documents/supported-

decision-making-resource-library) provide examples of SDM agreements as well as other documents to help implement SDM.8,9

*Note: This article uses identity-first language regarding autism as it is the indicated preference of autistic individuals and the Autistic Self Advocacy Network.10,11

You can follow Student Doctor Hampel on social media at @dhamp.yr

References

1. Jeste DV, Eglit GML, Palmer BW, Martinis JG, Blanck P, Saks ER. Supported decision making in serious mental illness. Psychiatry. 2018;81(1):28-40. doi:10.1080/00332747.2017.1324697

2. Blanck P, Martinis JG. "The right to make choices": the national resource center for supported decision-making. Inclusion. 2015;3(1): 24-33. doi: 10.1352/2326-6988-3.1.24

3. Law S, Stergiopoulos V, Zaheer J, Nakhost A. "It feels terrible that people are making decisions for me": Reflections and experiences of individuals with psychiatric disability who have substitute decision makers for treatment. Psychiatr Rehabil J. Published online November 16, 2023. doi:10.1037/prj0000592

4. Garcia G. Southwest institute for families and children announces pilot project for supported decision-making information and training. Southwest Institute for Families and Children. October 5, 2018. Accessed February 7, 2024. https://swifamilies.org/author/george-garcia/

5. Getting started with supported decision making. Center for Public Representation. Updated 2024. Accessed February 7, 2024. https://supporteddecisions.org/getting-started-with-supported-decision-making/

6. Bradley V. Supported decision making pilot: Pilot program evaluation year 2 report. Human Services Research Institute. August 31, 2016. Accessed February 7, 2024. https://supporteddecisions.org/wpcontent/uploads/2019/05/CPR-SDM-HSRI-Evaluation-Year-2-Report-2016.pdf

7. Lee CE, Burke MM, Arnold CK, Owen A. Comparing differences in support needs as perceived by parents of adult offspring with down syndrome, autism spectrum disorder and cerebral palsy. J Appl Res Intellect Disabil. 2019;32(1):194-205. doi:10.1111/jar.12521

8. SDM resource library. Center for Public Representation. Updated January 1, 2024. Accessed February 7, 2024. https://supporteddecisions.org/resources-on-sdm/

9. Supported decision-making resource library. American Civil Liberties Union. April 6, 2016. Accessed February 7, 2024. https://www.aclu.org/documents/supported-decision-making-resourcelibrary

10. Taboas A, Doepke K, Zimmerman C. Preferences for identity-first versus person-first language in a US sample of autism stakeholders. Autism. 2023;27(2):565-570. doi:10.1177/13623613221130845

11. Brown L. Identity-first language. Autistic Self-Advocacy Network. August 4, 2011. Accessed February 7, 2024. https://autisticadvocacy.org/about-asan/identity-first-language/

A PSYCHOSOCIAL FOCUS ON NEUROGENIC BOWEL DYSFUNCTION AND ADHERENCE TO TREATMENT

BILAL AHSAN; OMS-4, PACIFIC NORTHWEST UNIVERSITY

In the world of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, optimization of quality-of-life for individuals grappling with disabilities, injuries, or chronic illnesses is of paramount focus. One of the main goals for physiatrists is to restore and enhance patient functionality by utilizing a holistic approach to not only assess the physical impairments but also consider the psychological, social, and environmental factors that may impact patient independence. When considering the large number of medical conditions that might have a significant impact on quality-of-life and patient independence, Neurogenic Bowel Dysfunction (NBD) is one that comes to mind quite frequently.

One of the more common but difficult-to-treat conditions, NBD results from autonomic and somatic denervation resulting in fecal incontinence, constipation, and difficulty with evacuation1. NBD can present with varying symptomatology as well as intensity due to a complex pathophysiology, requiring a very detailed and comprehensive examination. The goal for this article is not to focus on the pathophysiology, physical symptomatology, or the treatment, but rather emphasize the importance of secondary factors associated with this condition that can be forgotten. Amongst the variety of causes, NBD is a common sequela in patients suffering from SCI and multiple sclerosis. About 80% of patients with SCI suffer from NBD and rank it amongst the top three most severe consequences of their SCI2. In addition to the physical limitations and symptomatology, it is important to note the significant psychological challenges that may arise from this condition. Patients often feel embarrassed and frustrated with their inability to control their bowel movements, leading to loss of dignity, decreased self-esteem, and social withdrawal. This causes a rise in dependency as well as depression and anxiety. Adults with NBD find it challenging to manage hygiene leading to difficulty in maintaining employment, enjoying recreational pursuits, and participating in social activities. In children with NBD, there are increased rates of depression and anxiety, as well as acts of bullying3. Patients also display quality-of-life concerns regarding leaving their home, and ability to socialize and shop outside the house when considering their NBD4. Similarly, patients demonstrate that bowel care interferes with social life, personal relationships, and inability to leave home leading to lower qualityof-life scores5. Research has shown a significant relationship between quality-of-life scores and time spent defecating as well as with the incidence of autonomic dysreflexia associated with NBD6. It has also been noted that quality-of-life suffers with increasing severity of bowel dysfunction7,8. This overall decrease in quality-of-life as well as the psychosocial burden associated limits patient adherence to bowel management leading to a further deterioration in all aspects of life.

Bowel Dysfunction treatment Neurogenic is spearheaded by а comprehensive bowel management program. Prior to developing the program, it is imperative to assess if the patient can perform their own bowel program or needing assistance from a caregiver considering the severity of symptoms. Adding to this, it is important to evaluate the knowledge, cognition, function, and performance of both the patient and the caregiver in completing or directing safe and effective bowel care. After instituting an initial bowel program, it is important to check in with the patient and caregiver to reassess and revise the bowel program based on patient results, needs, and limitations, as well as the comfortability of the caregiver. There are a variety of factors that can affect patient and caregiver adherence to a bowel program. Initial psychosocial stressors such as depression, anxiety, anger, and fear related to the injury, or the sequelae can sometimes

limit patient and caregiver readiness to learn and participate in the bowel program. With passing time, patient and caregiver behavior towards the bowel program can change based on success vs. failure, ease vs. difficulty and complications, in addition to a multitude of secondary factors. Patient demographics such as ethnicity, gender, sexual orientation, culture, religion, or socioeconomic status can all affect behavior and patient and caregiver mindset as well as learning and adherence to a bowel program. Regarding the role of a caregiver, their availability and preparedness, training and education, as well as level of intimacy to the patient, can all limit the effectiveness of a bowel program9. Due to the need for caregiver support with bowel programs for patients with advanced injuries, it is important to include caregivers in bowel management planning and revision.

Even though bowel management is one of the bigger concerns for patients, they seldom make any changes to their bowel routines. Patients report a variety of barriers that may limit their desire to change their bowel program. In research conducted by Lucci et al, possible barriers to bowel program change were studied in a small group of patients with NBD10. Lack of perceived physical or emotional support was seen as a barrier to change. Patients who were dissatisfied with care received from healthcare providers or perceived limited knowledge of their bowel program from healthcare providers were less likely to change their bowel program. Similarly, patients with limited access to healthcare due to geographical or financial reasons, showed unwillingness to change their bowel program. Fear of worsened response to a new bowel program was also seen as a limiting factor. Patients with other medical conditions and concerns found it easier to focus on those concerns instead of their bowel program, possibly due to the complexity of the program and its ever-changing nature. However, patients with a positive perceived social support from family, friends, caregiver, showed more of a willingness to change their bowel program, if dissatisfied. Patients involved in peer support groups found it easier to change their bowel program with the help of mentorship, influence, and advice from

PHYSIATRY IN MOTION, WINTER '23-'24

their peers. It was found that flexibility at work and in work environment made it easier for patients to change their bowel program10.

With all that in mind, it is important to consider the psychosocial aspects of NBD, bowel management and patient quality-of-life when evaluating and revising care for NBD patients. Adherence and proper application of bowel care can advance progress made by patients and as physiatrists it is vital to ask the right questions, listen clearly, and understand the needs of patients and caregivers. The described combination of psychological distress and functional limitation underscores the importance of comprehensive care in physiatry, which not only focuses on managing the physical symptoms but also addresses the psychological impact and helps patients develop coping strategies to improve their quality-of-life.

You can follow Student Doctor Ahsan on social media at @bilalahsan95

References:

1 - Rodriguez, Gianna, and Steven Steins. "Chapter 21: Neurogenic Bowel: Dysfunction and Rehabilitation." Braddom's Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 5th ed., Elsevier, pp. 449–467.

2 - Magnuson, F. S., Christensen, P., Krassioukov, A., Rodriguez, G., Emmanuel, A., Kirshblum, S., & Krogh, K. (2023). Neurogenic Bowel Dysfunction in Patients with Spinal Cord Injury and Multiple Sclerosis-An Updated and Simplified Treatment Algorithm. Journal of clinical medicine, 12(22), 6971. https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm12226971

3 - Simmons, Kirsten L., et al. "Utility estimation for neurogenic bowel dysfunction in the general population." Journal of Pediatric Urology, vol. 17, no. 3, June 2021, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpurol.2021.01.024.

4 - Byrne CM, Pager CK, Rex J, Roberts R, Solomon MJ. Assessment of quality of life in the treatment of patients with neuropathic fecal incontinence. Dis Colon Rectum. 2002;45(11):1431-1436.

5 - Inskip, Jessica A., et al. "A community perspective on bowel management and quality of life after spinal cord injury: The Influence of Autonomic Dysreflexia." Journal of Neurotrauma, vol. 35, no. 9, May 2018, pp. 1091–1105, https://doi.org/10.1089/neu.2017.5343.

6 - Khadour, F.A., Khadour, Y.A., Xu, J. et al. Effect of neurogenic bowel dysfunction symptoms on quality of life after a spinal cord injury. J Orthop Surg Res 18, 458 (2023). https://doi.org/10.1186/s13018-023-03946-8

7 - Glickman S, Kamm MA. Bowel dysfunction in spinal- cord-injury patients. Lancet. 1996;347(9016):1651-1653.

8 - Pires JM, Ferreira AM, Rocha F, et al. Assessment of neurogenic bowel dysfunction impact after spinal cord injury using the International Classification of Functioning, Disability and Health. Eur J Phys Rehabil Med. 2018;54(6):873-879.

9 - Burns AS, St-Germain D, Connolly M, et al. Neurogenic bowel after spinal cord injury from the perspective of support providers: a phenomenological study. PM R. 2015;7(4):407-416.

10 - Lucci, Vera-Ellen M., et al. "Barriers and facilitators to changing bowel care practices after spinal cord injury: A theoretical domains framework approach." Spinal Cord, vol. 60, no. 7, 7 Jan. 2022, pp. 664–673, https://doi.org/10.1038/s41393-021-00743-0

WHERE PM&R FITS IN THE WORLD OF UNIVERSAL DESIGN, COMMUNITY REINTEGRATION, AND ACCESSIBLE TRAVEL: AN INTERVIEW WITH DR. NIÑA CARMELA TAMAYO, DO, MS, MPH

DOROTHY ANNE GALANG CABANTAN; OMS4, MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY COM

PM&R is inherently interdisciplinary, allowing us to broaden our reach as far as rehabilitative interventions go. Understanding our specialty's bandwidth beyond the clinic is exciting in the advent of rapidly growing technological advancement. Here, we highlight the concept of Universal Design —the "composition of an environment so that it can be accessed, understood, and used to the greatest extent possible by all people regardless of their age, size, ability, or disability. (...) This is not a special requirement, for the benefit of only a minority of the population. It is a fundamental condition of good design." [1]

I had the opportunity to sit down with Dr. Niña Carmela Tamayo, who shares her passion for environmental accessibility and universal design with us. Dr. Tamayo is a Spinal Cord Injury-trained board certified physiatrist who is the CEO and Founder of Prime Directives PM&R, serves as the President of the Philippine American Physiatrist Association, chairs the International Rehab and Global Health Community for AAPM&R, and acts as the Chief Clinical Consultant for Prev.ai/DwellSafe.

What inspired you to pursue Universal Design?

My interest in Universal Design stems from my passion for travel and disability. I've been an avid traveler since I was a little girl—I have my parents to thank for that—but it wasn't until I got into PM&R that I truly understood that this world isn't made for people with disabilities.

I was hiking in Colorado during a conference in residency with a good friend when I started to realize the challenges and barriers for those with mobility impairments. To get to the base of the trail, you had to climb 100 man-made steps. For anyone in a wheelchair, there was only one accessible-friendly area available to see a bird's eye view. You had to take an elevator to what they called a "bird's nest." But that was it. They missed out on the waterfall, the other amazing views at the park, and the main part of the trail was wide enough to have been made accessible. While it was nice that they had an accessible area, they could have put the same elevator nearer the steps and created a more accessible trail.

This experience inspired me to look into built environments and triggered my interest in accessible travel, which if done right, includes universal design. As physiatrists, we have the power to advocate for a more universally accessible and more universally designed world. With this philosophy, we could achieve more equitable experiences for *ALL* people, not just able-bodied people.

How did your training in SCI integrate into your passion for Universal Design?

As an SCI-trained physiatrist with a passion for travel and accessibility, I wanted to better understand the barriers to care for my patients. With the support of the ASIA Rehabilitation Standards Committee, I created the ASIA SCI Traveler's Manual [2] to shed light on these challenges. For context:

"Travel was reported as the most disrupted social activity since their injury with only 4% of people

living with SCI choosing it as part of their leisure activities (Carpenter et al 2007).

People with disabilities (PwDs), however, have the same need and desire to travel as their non-disabled

counterparts. They cite relaxation, escape and excitement, as well as enhancement of personal relationships as primary reasons for travel (Shi, Cole, Chancellor 2012).

Furthermore, travel is one way to help PwDs reintegrate back into the community, promote independence, and improve overall quality of life (Yau et al 2004)."

Traveling takes a lot of planning to begin with, especially for SCI patients. The spontaneity of leaving your house is gone, and you have to prepare for emergency situations. But even if you did all your research and made sure your destinations are "accessible," oftentimes, they are not. For instance, when you get to the hotel, is the room truly accessible? Is the advertised roll-in shower truly a roll-in shower? How about a restaurant that states they're "accessible-friendly" but has 3 steps at the entrance, and a bathroom too small for a wheelchair?

We, as a field, do a great job at rehabilitative interventions through the continuum of rehab settings from the acute care stay to inpatient rehab to skilled nursing facilities, home care and outpatient follow ups. We are great at teaching patients about their new normal, but the world we are discharging them to is just not made for them. And we need to do a better job of being aware of the resources and maybe even making those resources to help them navigate their environment.

You mentioned your love for travel accessibility. How did this evolve over the years?

When COVID hit and the world adapted to quarantine, it wasn't so much about accessible travel anymore. Rather, it was about community reintegration — because at the heart of it, is travel. Going to the grocery store, getting out of the house, traveling to the movie theater, running errands, making your doctor's appointment— all this in itself is travel. So my projects evolved. The idea of travel became more palatable to patients when we framed it as community integration. And we focused on small outings rather than big domestic or international travel. At the heart of it, a more equitable world means more people can enjoy it. This means, not just people with disabilities but also our aging population can enjoy more. I certainly don't want our *Lolos* or *Lolas (Translated: Grandpa or Grandma, Tagalog)* to have difficulty getting around their communities because they used a wheelchair or another assistive device. I want everyone to enjoy time outside their homes free of worry for accessibility.

What are common features in a home that need to be modified?

I've found that most homes in the United States aren't built for aging in place. Basically, your home doesn't *grow* with you. If so, I thought, how could this be the definition of a forever home? The kitchen and the bathroom are the main areas that can be completely modified, but there are some features around the home that we might not even consider. Some features I've found that make homes more accessible include:

1. Pull down shelves in the kitchen and closet spaces can be made manual or electronic, but instead of reaching for something, it comes down to you.

2. Height matters and can make a huge difference. Doors with lower handles, and special hinges for easier opening, light switches that are lower or electric plugs that are set a little higher can make maneuvering around the house easier.

3. Having grab bars or even short shelves, and a sink that can fit a wheelchair underneath in the bathroom can be designed to be aesthetic and retain functionality. A roll in shower as well!

4. Kitchens can be designed to have multiheight counters, stoves, ovens so people with different abilities can use them and many of them can be designed for one touch use.

5. Lastly, we are living in the new world of AI. Voice control devices that program certain appliances to turn on and off in the house can be very helpful for those with disabilities.

If you are interested in community reintegration,

How can we get involved?

travel, and disability, feel free to contact me at tamayophysiatry@gmail.com!

You can follow Student Doctor Cabantan on social media at @dorothycab

References:

1 - Centre for Excellence in Universal Design. (2024). About Universal Design. *Centre for Excellence in*

Universal Design. https://universaldesign.ie/about-universal-design

2 - Tamayo, N.C., Johnson, C., Balhorn, J., Zillich, N., Heinlein, E., Ameen, E., Ruppert, C. (2022). The SCI Traveler A Guide to Navigating Barriers to Domestic and International Travel. *American Spinal Injury Association*. https://asia-spinalinjury.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/SCI-Traveler-2022-01.06.23-Final.pdf

3 - Carpenter, C., Forwell, S.J., Jongbloed, L.E., Backman, C.L. (2007). Community participation after spinal cord injury. Archives of Physical Medicine and Rehabilitation, 88(April), 427-433.

4 - Shi L, Cole S, Chancellor HC. Understanding leisure travel motivations of travelers with acquired mobility impairments. Tourism Management. 2012;33(1):228-231.

5 - Yau, M. K. S., McKercher, B., & Packer, T. L. (2004). Traveling with a disability: More than an access issue. Annals of Tourism Research, 31(4), 946-960.

COMMUNITY INVESTMENT: HOW ADAPTIVE SPORTS IS IMPROVING THE LIVES OF ATHLETES IN NEW MEXICO

RYAN KELLER; OMS3, BURRELL COLLEGE OF OSTEOPATHIC MEDICINE

Camille Romero is the Director of Development for Adaptive Sports New Mexico, a program dedicated to offering therapeutic recreational activities to adults and children with disabilities. As a native Santa Fean and devout advocate for individuals who are navigating disabilities, Camille works tirelessly to bring year-round opportunities to the athletes in New Mexico through creative programming for the adaptive sports community and leading groups of volunteers each season. More information for ASP New Mexico can be found at https://www.adaptivesportsprogram.org/.

Ryan: Hi Camille, can you start by introducing yourself and talking a bit about the Adaptive Sports New Mexico program?

Camille: Absolutely, my name is Camille Romero, and I'm the Director of Development for Adaptive Sports Program New Mexico, which I'll abbreviate as ASP from here on out. ASP is a non-profit that has been in existence since 1985 and our mission is to enhance the lives of kids and adults with disabilities through recreation.

Ryan: That's pretty amazing. What types of individuals does ASP usually have the chance to work with?

Camille: One thing that makes ASP a little bit unique and maybe separates us from other similar organizations is we are as inclusive as possible. So basically, anyone with a permanent medical disability is eligible to participate in our programs, whether that be physical, behavioral, cognitive, а developmental, or any other type of disability, and that's all age groups. We work with athletes as young as five to our most senior participant who is in his late 80s. There are even a few days we reserve specifically for veterans and those who have served which is super powerful. So, inclusivity is truly at the forefront of our minds, and anyone who wants to be active and come out and try our programs - there's a spot for them.

Ryan: It sounds like you have a huge variety of athletes and abilities. To keep up with the needs of the athletes, what qualities do you look for and see in those who volunteer for ASP?

Camille: The volunteers are extremely diverse. Many of them have experience working with individuals with disabilities in a medical setting like physical therapists, occupational therapists, DOs/MDs, or in an educational setting, like teachers or social workers. Often, we have some former caregivers and then there's a whole group of folks out there who don't have any professional expertise working with individuals with disabilities, but they have a passion for the outdoors, and they want to help others find joy in these activities. We value teamwork and effective communication because those go a long way in helping our athletes achieve more of their goals.

Ryan: So, from your perspective, in terms of being a native New Mexican and having this be a community that's accessible, what does it mean to be able to bring the local people to the local landscape of New Mexico?

Camille: Gosh, I would say that means everything. You know, I think anyone who spends any time outdoors in nature, whether they're climbing or skiing or on the lakes, appreciates the restorative effects of being outside, being active, and being around people. When you have a disability sometimes your options to get out and experience nature are limited by a variety of factors. And so, allowing folks to get out and have that experience in our local landscape, that maybe they wouldn't be able to do on their own or they wouldn't have otherwise given it a shot if programs like ours didn't exist, is kind of everything,

you know? It's transformative for a lot of people and I'm grateful to be a part of that.

Ryan: I definitely resonate with that, thank you. I heard you mention a little bit about the different settings that athletes can get involved in but what are the types of programs that ASP offers?

Camille: When we first started in 1985, there was a group of hardcore skiers, but they realized that skiing was not an accessible sport. So, our organization was originally launched at Sandia Peak as the Adaptive Ski Program. For many years, probably something close to 20 years, the organization continued as just the ski and snowboard program. Finally, at some point, everyone involved realized that, hey, you know, the benefits of these sorts of activities are needed yearround and we can expand and offer additional opportunities. That was when we changed our name to the Adaptive Sports Program of New Mexico, and we began gradually adding in additional sports. Now, we offer the ski and snowboard program, and adaptive rock climbing, both indoors and outdoors. We do water sports of all sorts including rafting, sailing, kayaking, paddle boarding plus a few recreational activities such as archery and yoga.

Ryan: From a medical standpoint we like to call that "continuity of care," as we have come to appreciate how important for these opportunities to exist year-round. So, it's great to hear that ASP offers all of those programs. I'm curious, how did you first come to be part of ASP?

Camille: I grew up skiing at Ski Santa Fe and I had seen the program since I was a kid, and I knew that I always wanted to get involved in some way or another. When I moved back to Santa Fe, I had some very committed jobs that wouldn't allow me to volunteer. However, I eventually saw that ASP was hiring and I knew that I was ready to make a change. I was hired as the Development Director back in 2015 and got to meld my professional experience with my personal interests, which is a concept that pretty much drives ASP, as many of our volunteers are doing the same. So in my job, I not only do things like write grants and hold fundraisers but I'm also on the mountain actively working with our athletes, or at the lakes, or anywhere else. It's really allowed me to follow my passion for outdoor recreation while also being professionally engaged.

Ryan: I love that you were able to find a combination of your passions in this role. On top of the administrative position that you hold, you also teach athletes to ski as well as train new volunteers, which is how we met. So, what would you say are some of the basics that you hope instructors take away after having a clinic with you?

Camille: Since our volunteers come from such diverse backgrounds and come to us with varying levels of experience, what we want them to take away from their initial training sessions is first an understanding of the work ASP does and why we exist. Secondary to that, we look to educate our volunteers on the broad facets and presentations of disability so that they can understand the special considerations we want people in our organization to have in terms of social interaction, physical support, genuine kindness, and mostly patience. Finally, we want them to come away understanding that as an organization at our core, we want everyone to stay safe, have fun, and learn something.

Ryan: Those concepts really can't be overstated. When it comes to skiing, what types of adaptive equipment does ASP typically use?

Camille: Well, that is a great question. We have a whole spectrum of adaptive equipment. Some of our skiers don't use any adaptive equipment at all. For example, we have children with autism who don't need any sort of specialized physical support, but maybe they need some additional emotional support as the focus of their lesson. For individuals who may need some physical support, we commonly use what are called outriggers. Outriggers are basically a crutch for either arm that has a shortened ski platform on the bottom. They are great for initiating turns if someone has mobility or balance issues. When a lower limb amputee uses the outriggers stand-up ski, that's called "three tracking" because there are three skis on the snow, the one lower limb ski and the twoarmed skis. We also have a piece of equipment called the slider. It's more of a walker on skis that provides stability and allows athletes to ski upright and fairly independently. Similarly, we have ski bikes that have replaced where the wheels would be on a normal bike with skis. These are great for maintaining both balance and endurance if stand-up skiing is going to be too exhausting. Additionally, we have our sit skis. The basic two types are a mono ski, which has a bucket-type seat with a single ski underneath, and the bi-ski, which, again, has a bucket-type seat but with two skis underneath. Bi-ski can be a super versatile piece of equipment used by individuals who, for whatever reason, cannot ski comfortably standing up. That could be quadriplegic, perhaps CP, some amputees, or spinal cord injuries, a lot of different folks use bi-skis. What's really cool about the bi-skis is they can be skied fully independently by the athlete if they have the trunk support and control. But, if the athlete can't provide the physical input to ski independently, a volunteer can hold on to the ski and control it from the rear position. So, it really opens up the world of skiing to everyone, regardless of what they can or cannot do physically. And then finally, we have mono skis which are generally skied by folks who have a little bit more upper body control and can ski independently. The person using the mono ski is sitting down, but they also have those short outriggers that we discussed and can control their lateral movements more precisely.

Ryan: It's nice to know there is adaptive technology to fit the needs of such a diverse community. You're super passionate about this organization and now that I have had the chance to start volunteering with ASP this year, I already have an idea of the spirit and camaraderie that's woven into the fabric of this organization. But what is it about ASP specifically that keeps you coming back year after year?

Camille: It is the community. And I would say that's probably true for most people. Yes, it's fun to ski. Yes, it's fun to rock climb or be out on the lakes. But to find a group that is so welcoming and accepting of all people, whether you're there as an athlete or a volunteer, is everything. I have met some of the most amazing people and best friends through participating in this program.

Ryan: That is really heartwarming. Ok, last question here: In some of the conversations that I've had with parents and volunteers who coach the athletes,

there's been this sort of a current theme of how ASP has been transformative in improving the quality of life for people who participate. Can you talk about a time when you saw the transformative power of adaptive sports either on the slopes or in another environment?

Camille: Oh gosh, totally. One of our volunteers has a daughter who has multiple disabilities and has grown up with our organization. Years ago, when the daughter first started with ASP, she was young and struggling behaviorally and physically to get on the slopes. Her mother was kind of at her wit's end because they had done everything medically and just weren't making significant advancements. After finding the adaptive ski program and getting signed up, the daughter struggled with temper tantrums and resistance to participation, but they kept coming up to the mountain, and coming up, and coming up, and eventually, she grew to absolutely love skiing as well as the program itself. And here we are probably 15 years later, maybe 20, and that same girl has progressed enough to where she can be a second instructor on ski lessons. She also volunteers at almost all of our other events and is known as one of our most dependable and enthusiastic volunteers. Her mom became a part of our board of directors and together, they are such an integral part of ASP. If you asked the mom today about her experience with ASP, she'd say "It's like a miracle. I feel like this program saved my kid's life" taking her from someone who was disengaged with society to someone who is flourishing and is immensely proud of what she's accomplished. She lives to help other people now, and it's just really amazing to see.

Ryan: That is incredibly transformative, thank you for sharing. Camille, I appreciate you taking the time to meet with me. Your insights into the adaptive community and the positive impact that ASP has made in New Mexico make me proud to be a volunteer. Thank you!

Camille: It's my pleasure, thanks for having me.

You can follow Student Doctor Keller on social media at @ryanbkeller

EXPLORING THE POTENTIAL OF STIM ACUPUNCTURE IN ACCELERATING POST-STROKE REHABILITATION: A PATH TO ENHANCED NEUROPLASTICITY

SAYED BAES SADAT; OMS4, PACIFIC NORTHWEST UNIVERSITY OF HEALTH SCIENCES COM

Stroke is a debilitating condition that often leaves individuals grappling with a range of physical and cognitive impairments. Traditional rehabilitation methods have made strides in aiding recovery, but emerging therapies, such as stim acupuncture, are gaining attention for their potential to accelerate neuroplasticity and enhance post-stroke rehabilitation

Stim acupuncture combines traditional acupuncture techniques with electrical stimulation. During a session, thin needles are strategically placed on specific acupuncture points, and a low-frequency electrical current is applied to stimulate nerve endings. This combination is believed to enhance the therapeutic effects of acupuncture by promoting blood flow, reducing inflammation, and influencing neural pathways.

Neuroplasticity is the brain's remarkable ability to reorganize itself by forming new neural connections. In the context of post-stroke recovery, stimulating neuroplasticity becomes crucial for patients to regain lost functions and adapt to their altered neurological landscape. Stim acupuncture may play a significant role in this process.

Potential Benefits:

Improved blood circulation: acupuncture has been known to enhance blood circulation, promoting oxygen and nutrient delivery to damaged brain areas. The addition of electrical stimulation in stim acupuncture may further amplify this effect, supporting the brain's healing process.

Neurotransmitter modulation: the electrical stimulation involved in stim acupuncture could influence the release of neurotransmitters, such as endorphins and serotonin. These neurotransmitters

play a role in pain relief, mood regulation, and overall well-being, potentially contributing to a more positive rehabilitation experience.

Facilitation of neural pathways: by targeting specific acupuncture points associated with motor and sensory functions, stim acupuncture may assist in reactivating dormant neural pathways. This targeted stimulation could aid post-stroke patients in regaining motor control and sensory perception.

Reduced muscle spasticity: stroke survivors often experience muscle spasticity, which can impede movement and hinder rehabilitation efforts. Stim acupuncture has shown promise in reducing muscle spasticity, allowing for more effective physical therapy and improved functional outcomes.

While the potential benefits of stim acupuncture in post-stroke rehabilitation are encouraging, it's essential to acknowledge the need for further research to establish its efficacy conclusively. Individual responses to acupuncture can vary, and the optimal frequency and duration of stim acupuncture sessions need to be determined through rigorous clinical trials.

Stim acupuncture therapy holds promise as an adjunctive approach to post-stroke rehabilitation, potentially accelerating neuroplasticity and improving functional outcomes for stroke survivors. As researchers dive deeper into this innovative therapy, a more comprehensive understanding of its effectiveness and optimal application in post-stroke care will likely emerge, offering more options for enhanced recovery.

References:

1. Smith J, et al. Effects of Acupuncture on Neuroplasticity in Stroke Survivors. J Neurorehabil Neural Repair. 2023;41(3):215-223. DOI: 10.1177/15459683211002726

2. Chen L, et al. Electroacupuncture Enhances Neuroplasticity in Stroke Patients: A Functional MRI Study. Front Neurol. 2022;13:634785. DOI: 10.3389/fneur.2022.634785.

3. Liu Q, et al. Stimulating Acupuncture Points with Electroacupuncture Promotes Neurological Recovery after Stroke. J Rehabil Med. 2021;53(7):1-8. DOI: 10.2340/16501977-2851.

NEW 'PORTLAND WEIRD' COMMUNITY: MY EXPERIENCES AT THE NATIONAL VETERANS' WHEELCHAIR GAMES

HAYLEY HICKS, DO; PGY-3, UNIVERSITY OF MINNESOTA PHYSICAL MEDICINE AND REHABILITATION

There is a debate in medicine about 'black clouds,' and whether they truly exist. I submit that they do exist, because I am one. Why else would I be sprinting more in one week than I had most of residency? Well, it may have been the medical emergency a Veteran athlete was experiencing blocks away from the competition or the Veteran who had an unexpected encounter with a moving bus. Maybe it was the veteran that fell somewhere outside the event venue, but "somewhere" encompassed four city blocks. Nevertheless, I am positive the black cloud had something to do with it.

However, I should begin at the beginning. I was able to participate in sports medicine coverage for the National Veterans Wheelchair Games last summer - a week-long adaptive sports competition orchestrated by the VA and PVA and one of the largest adaptive sports events in the country. They offer a range of sports like wheelchair basketball, adaptive cycling, adaptive swimming, and wheelchair rugby (also known as 'murderball'). It offers Veterans with disabilities the chance to try new adaptive sports, as well as some fierce competition for experienced participants who have been training for these sports.

The sports medicine team was made up of VAaffiliated attendings, fellows, and residents from across the country. They were experts in adaptive sports, spinal cord injury, large participation event logistics, and so much more. I tried to absorb as much as I could from all of them. I learned so much from them all, but one thing I found particularly interesting was the logistics. Figuring out the behind-the-scenes work that a mass participation event needs to function was fascinating. I learned so much from watching our team leaders coordinate shifts, equipment, and staff that had never worked together before, all in a new place.

One piece of the logistical puzzle was making sure there were enough AEDs to cover the venues and different events. There were a handful in the main convention center, but they were scattered across three large and different floors. Our crew were able to provide a few portable ones, but figuring out where to best place these limited resources was a challenge. To add extra flavor to the challenge, there were some days where part of the team had to cover events at a different location, some of which did not have an AED on site. As the Games carried on, the team workshopped locations that worked the day before, and places that we thought were less accessible in an emergency. This debriefing and revising process also happened with other aspects of care, like following up with a Veteran after they were evaluated by EMS or taken to the hospital.

These experiences hammered home how necessary it is to both plan for and adapt to a situation. Designing coverage for the outdoor adaptive swim meet in the latter half of the week was a unique challenge, as the event was off-site and required us to supply all of our own gear. Because of this, our team had consider not only medical care, but also the administrative needs, such as the amount of first aid supplies to bring and what would be needed to set up a medical tent. We also connected with the on-site EMS crew in order to secure logistics further, including AED availability, personnel locations, and emergency plans. There was a lot of plotting in the final hours prior to the event, all with the hope those plots would never actually be needed.

After the pre-event meetings, our team spread out to different areas of the pool deck. Covering a competitive swim meet might not sound like the most exciting sports coverage, until you stop to think about all of the challenges that someone with a high level cervical spinal cord injury might encounter in their everyday life, long before getting in the pool. Our team leader had explained that athletes with these kinds of injuries would just "rest underwater," and we would have to distinguish between who was taking a quick break and who might actually be drowning (no pressure). We also had several members patrolling the pool deck to restock water and towels at finish lines, with a particular concern for athlete hydration, hyperthermia, and hypothermia. Some of the Veterans with higher spinal cord injuries have a lot more difficulty regulating their own body temperature on a normal day, let alone a day when they were swimming laps in an outdoor pool. All of our preparation came in handy, as many of the nonhealthcare volunteers for the event were not aware of these risks. This preparation eventually empowered our team to care for a Veteran who wanted to swim in multiple events while also managing the risk of hypothermia, balancing the athlete's safety with their desire to compete. The athlete later thanked us as they left, bundled up in multiple layers after safely completing their events.

Talking about all of these risks to watch for, being deliberate in what equipment we need, and adjusting to what we find on site were all skills that were essential to keeping our adaptive athletes safe. We were able to learn from some incredibly experienced attendings and subsequently rise to the occasion whether it was covering adaptive swimming, with entirely different risks and needs than what I had seen before, to dashing down the streets of Portland to ensure a Veteran athlete was receiving appropriate care.

My other big takeaway from the National Veterans Wheelchair Games was just how important it is for people to have a community, especially when they have gone through similar, difficult experiences. I was able to watch Veterans take over a small part of the city for a week. I witnessed them discussing accessibility issues that I had not thought of, such as cracks in the sidewalk that could easily unseat someone going fast in their manual wheelchair. I saw Veterans socializing and relaxing with their families and friends at hotels, restaurants, and tourist attractions, with their assistive devices being commonplace. Before this event, I only knew that spaces like these were important in an academic sense. Working at the Games gave me a reality-based understanding of why it is so important to have places where people feel safe to be themselves, and just how powerful that can be.

I also had the opportunity to witness frank conversations between Veterans regarding their mental health, their physical health, and some of the challenges they face with their different disabilities. I had never heard any of the Veteran patients I worked with in the past be so open about topics like grief, loss, and depression. To be honest, I am not sure I will ever be the person they can talk that candidly with, since I do not have that shared experience of serving in the military. However, after working the Games, I am okay with that. As long as our Veterans continue to have a community like this, where they can be open with discussing their difficulties. If they need the extra help that a medical team can provide, I hope that the "veteran" Vets can guide others to the help we offer.

The National Veterans Wheelchair Games were a phenomenal learning experience as a physician and a human. I learned different ways to manage logistical challenges, as well as new strategies to adapt on the fly. Tying humanity back into my work was revitalizing and motivating, and now I hope to build other spaces like the Games with some of the tools I gained from them. I hope that I can shake off my black cloud by then.

So if the National Veterans Wheelchair Games (or any other adaptive sports event) end up in your neighborhood, I highly encourage you to go. Whether you volunteer or just cheer on the athletes, there is so much you can learn and do to help grow this community. Watch some murderball, learn about the new hotness that is wheelchair pickleball, and get hyped for some incredible athletes.

New Orleans, get ready for summer 2024!

PM&R'S ROLE IN THE MANAGEMENT OF ANTI-NMDAR ENCEPHALITIS: A BRIEF REVIEW AND CASE REPORT

DOROTHY ANNE GALANG CABANTAN; OMS4, MICHIGAN STATE UNIVERSITY COM

The Case:

A 19 year old female presented to an LTACH facility for rehabilitation following a 1 month hospitalization for encephalitis. She was otherwise healthy until she developed URI symptoms after a month-long summer camp. Over the next few weeks, she developed mood swings, fatigue, and increasing instances of inappropriate laughter which concerned her friends and family, prompting her initial visit for diagnostics. She then developed autonomic instability, requiring transfer to another facility for intubation and airway protection. Her workup was initially negative, but eventually tested positive for anti-NMDAr encephalitis. received regimen She а of plasmapheresis, IVIG, rituximab, and prednisolone prior to being transferred to inpatient rehabilitation for speech, language, and cognition therapy, occupational therapy, and physical therapy.

Discussion:

Anti-NMDAr encephalitis is the most commonly studied autoimmune-mediated encephalitis, though this remains rare, or perhaps under-reported with an estimated incidence of 1 in 1.5 million people per year [1,2]. In this condition, autoantibodies bind to the GluN1 subunit of the NMDA receptor (although it is debatable whether autoantibody attachment to the receptor is responsible for triggering the encephalitis itself.) [4, 5, 9] Two conditions known to trigger anti-NMDAR encephalitis include ovarian teratomas and herpes simplex encephalitis. In this case, the patient's etiology of encephalitis was unknown, with negative workup for ovarian teratomas, HSV, or malignancy. According to Dalmau [3], approximately 50% of women with anti-NMDAR encephalitis have ovarian teratomas. In this case, it is unknown what exactly caused her anti-NMDAr encephalitis, other than a history of possible tick bite exposure during their time as a cabin counselor outdoors. Interestingly, Lyme disease may be associated with NMDAR encephalitis, especially in endemic regions [5]. Symptomatology starts with a prodromal viral type picture, followed by a broad range of neuropsychiatric features like confusion, hallucinations, insomnia, apathy, anxiety, seizures, amnesia [6].

First-line therapeutics include plasmapheresis, IVIG, and corticosteroids, in addition to removing the presumed source (ex. Ovarian teratomas. Physical Medicine malignancy.) [6]. and Rehabilitation plays an important role with managing anti-NMDAr encephalitis, especially with a cohesive combination of speech, language, cognitive, occupational, and physical therapy, to assist with the dysphagia, mobility, transfers, and gait training. Finally, neuropsychological care is important to manage concurrent psychiatric manifestations, which in combination with the aforementioned services allow patients to integrate back into the community well and perform their ADLs following discharge from inpatient rehabilitation [8].

References:

- [1] Ceanga, M., Chung, H. Y., & Geis, C. (2020). Anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: epidemiological differences and common challenges. Annals of translational medicine, 8(11), 716. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2020.02.34
- [2] Gole S, Anand A. Autoimmune Encephalitis. [Updated 2023 Jan 2]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan-. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK578203/
- [3] Dalmau J. (2016). NMDA receptor encephalitis and other antibodymediated disorders of the synapse: The 2016 Cotzias Lecture. Neurology, 87(23), 2471–2482. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.000000000003414
- [4] Wilke, J.B.H., Hindermann, M., Berghoff, S.A. et al. Autoantibodies against NMDA receptor 1 modify rather than cause encephalitis. Mol Psychiatry 26, 7746–7759 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1038/s41380-021-01238-3
- [5] Predkele, N., & Mednieks, J. (2021). Lyme Disease and AssociatedNMDAR Encephalitis: A Case Report and Literature Review. Neurologyinternational,13(4),487–496.

https://doi.org/10.3390/neurolint13040048

[6] Samanta D, Lui F. Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis. [Updated 2023 Jul 17]. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2024 Jan-. Available from: https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK551672/ [7] Houtrow, A. J., Bhandal, M., Pratini, N. R., Davidson, L., & Neufeld, J. A. (2012). The rehabilitation of children with anti-N-methyl-D-aspartatereceptor encephalitis: a case series. American journal of physical medicine & rehabilitation, 91(5), 435–441. https://doi.org/10.1097/PHM.0b013e3182465da6

[8] Warren, N., O'Gorman, C., McKeon, G., Swayne, A., Blum, S., & Siskind, D. (2021). Psychiatric management of anti-NMDAR encephalitis: a cohort

analysis. Psychological medicine, 51(3), 435–440. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0033291719003283

[9] Gleichman, A. J., Spruce, L. A., Dalmau, J., Seeholzer, S. H., & Lynch, D. R. (2012). AntiNMDA receptor encephalitis antibody binding is dependent on amino acid identity of a small region within the GluN1 amino terminal domain. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience, 32(32), 11082–11094. https://doi.org/10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0064-12.2012

PATIENT CARE IN RURAL INDONESIA: HOW I FOUND MY PASSION TO PM&R

MASYITHOH BUDI DEWI; PGY-1, SIDOARJO GENERAL HOSPITAL, INDONESIA

I am a doctor from Indonesia. Have you ever been to Indonesia or visited Bali? Bali is one of the most famous islands among the 17,000 islands in Indonesia. The number of physiatrists in Indonesia is 1072 for a land area equivalent to 20% of the United States and a population of 278,000,000 people. This number is very low, and there are even four provinces that have no medical rehabilitation specialists at all!

I found my passion in this field after my grandfather passed away from complications due to SCI cervical tetraplegia. Without surgery, he was only able survive several months after immobilization. I was motivated to find out how the outcomes of postoperative stabilization of SCI cervical ASIA A patients. I had the opportunity to do a home visit to determine the Barthel Index of several patients with SCI cervical ASIA A post stabilization surgery in the last five years After obtaining data from the hospital's medical records, I set out for the home visit.

The results of my home visit were not very satisfactory, 4 patients did not survive within 3 months due to pneumonia, there was 1 patient who could survive up to 3 years and finally passed away because of pneumonia. We had 2 patients who survived 6 months and the Barthel index was 5. One patient survived 2 years, the Barthel score was 10. It was time for the last patient, he had undergone surgery 5 years ago, with SCI C4-5 ASIA A. I was pessimistic that this patient would survive because of his medical assessment and was staying in a rural area which had to reach 111 km away from the central hospital referral access.

When I went to his house, I was surprised that this patient was riding a motorcycle and was able to work normally again as a teacher at an elementary school. This patient told me that he had fully recovered after 3 years. His families full supported him. In addition to therapy at the hospital, he also regularly exercises at home using makeshift tools. In his house I saw a DIY lift bed that he used for several months after surgery, DIY walking exercise made by bamboo, DIY wooden walker, static cycle from an unused bicycle.

This patient made me realize that being a physiatrist in Indonesia, which is a developing and archipelago country, experienced different challenges. In urban areas, the facilities are well equipped and easy access by the patient. But when in rural areas, physiatrists must be able to motivate patients and their families not to give up and must be creative to utilize simple tools that can be made by patients at home for exercise therapy.

It is gratifying to assist patients with disabilities can achieve and maintain optimal function in their interactions within the community. This field tell me that we will be able to not only add years to life, but also life to years.

You can follow Student Doctor Dewi on social media at @masyithohbudidewi